

Laccases in Pollution Control

Susana Rodríguez Couto1* • José L. Toca Herrera2**

¹ Department of Chemical Engineering, Rovira i Virgili University, Av. Països Catalans 26, 43007 Tarragona, Spain ² Biosurfaces Unit, CICbiomaGUNE, Paseo Miramón 182, 20009 San Sebastián, Spain

Corresponding author: * susana.rodriguez@urv.cat, ** jltocaherrera@cicbiomagune.es

ABSTRACT

Environmental pollution with hazardous wastes containing recalcitrant synthetic chemicals (xenobiotics) has become one of the major ecological problems. Unlike the naturally-occurring organic compounds that are readily degraded upon introduction into the environment, xenobiotics are extremely resistant to biodegradation by native microorganisms. Additionally, the implementation of more and more stringent environmental regulations on hazardous wastes has impelled the search for innovative and environmentally-friendly treatment technologies to complement or substitute the conventional ones. Thus, a great deal of research has recently been focused on investigating the potential arising from the use of enzymes that have been isolated from their parent organisms to catalyse the transformation of targeted pollutants. Among such enzymes, laccases (benzenediol: oxygen oxidoreductases; EC 1.10.3.2) are outstanding, since they have the following properties: low substrate specificity, they do not need the addition or synthesis of a cofactor, as their cosubstrate – oxygen – is usually present in their environment, most laccases are extracellular which facilitates the purification procedures, they generally exhibit a considerable level of stability in the extracellular environment and the inducible expression of laccases in most fungal species also contributes to their easy applicability in biotechnological processes. All this makes laccase enzymes very useful for their application in bioremediation of polluted sites. The present paper reviews the potential application of laccases in pollution control.

Keywords: bioremediation, biotechnology, environment, enzymes, wastewater, xenobiotics

Abbreviations: ABTS, 2-2'-azino-bis-(3-ethyl-benzothiazoline-6-sulphonic acid); AHA, acetohydroxamic acid; AOX, adsorbable organic halogens; BPA, bisphenol A; CLECs, cross-linked enzyme crystals; COD, chemical oxygen demand; CRT, cellular retention time; 2,4-DCP, 2,4-dichlorophenol; EDCs, endocrine disrupting chemicals; EPR, electron paramagnetic resonance; EDTA, ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid; HAs, humic acids; *N*-HBT, hydroxybenzotriazole; HPLC, high performance liquid chromatography; HRP, horseradish peroxidase; HRT, hydraulic retention time; LMS, laccase mediator system; NHE, Nerst hydrogen electrode; NP, nonylphenol; OMW, olive mill wastewater; PAHs, Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons; PEG, polyethylene glycol; PCBs, polychlorinated biphenyls; PCE, perchloroethylene; PCP, pentachlorophenol; RBBR, Remazol Brilliant Blue R; SSF, solid-state fermentation; TCS, triclosan; TNT, 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	34
LACCASE APPLICATIONS IN POLLUTION CONTROL	
Detection of toxic compounds	
Bioremediation of industrial wastewater	
Wastewater from the textile industry	
Wastewater from the pulp and paper industry	
Wastewater from the food industry	
Wastewater containing EDCs (xenoestrogens)	
Soil bioremediation	
FUTURE PERSPECTIVES	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
REFERENCES	

INTRODUCTION

The stringent legislations concerning the release of wastewater to water bodies have increased the search for efficient and green oxidation technologies to treat industrial wastewater. Processes based on enzymes appear very promising. Thus, laccases (benzenediol: oxygen oxidoreductases; EC 1.10.3.2) have been subject of intensive research in the last decades because they have the following properties: wide substrate specificity, do not need the addition or synthesis of a low molecular weight cofactor, as their cosubstrate – oxygen – is usually present in their environment, most laccases are extracellular, making the purification procedures very easy, they generally exhibit a considerable level of stability in the extracellular environment and the inducible expression of laccases in most fungal species also contributes to their easy applicability in biotechnological processes.

Laccases are multicopper proteins belonging to the family of blue-oxidase enzymes, which can oxidise a great variety of aromatic compounds with the concomitant reduction of oxygen to water. The copper centres of laccases are classified in three groups according to their spectroscopic properties: T1, blue copper displaying an absorption band at 605 nm, detectable by electron paramagnetic resonance (EPR); T2, normal copper with no absorption band in the UV-Vis region, detectable in EPR spectra; T3, coupled binuclear copper center with an absorption band at 330 nm, not detectable in EPR (Klyachko *et al.* 1992; Solomon *et al.*



Fig. 1 Three dimensional structure of laccase from *Rhus vernicifera.* There are three cuprodoxin-like domains: the T1 site (Cu1) belongs to domain 3 and the T2/T3 site (Cu2, Cu3a and Cu3b) is the interface between the two other domains. The model also indicates the putative binding sites for glutaraldheyde. (Figure re-printed from Durante *et al.* (2004) *Journal of Molecular Catalysis B: Enzymatic* **27**, 191-206, with kind permission of Elsevier Ltd.).

1996). Laccases usually contain four copper ions: one T1, one T2 and two T3 copper centres (**Fig. 1**). The T2 and T3 copper centres form a trinuclear copper cluster site, which is involved in the binding of oxygen during its reduction to water. The T1 copper centre is involved in the oxidation of the reducing substrate and the generated electrons are then transferred back to the T2 and T3 copper centres (Call and Mücke 1997; **Fig. 2**). One of the key characteristics of lac-

cases is the standard redox potential of the T1 site, which was found to vary between 430 and 790 mV vs NHE (Reinhammar 1972; Xu et al. 1996; Klonowska et al. 2002; Shleev et al. 2004a, 2005). Reinhammar (1972) reported that the redox potential of the laccase from Polyporus versicolor at T1 site was 785 mV whereas the redox potential of the laccase from Rhus vernicifera at T1 site was 434 mV. Also, Xu et al. (1996) showed that significant differences in the redox potential of the T1 site existed among fungal laccases. On the contrary, Shleev et al. (2004a) determined that the standard redox potentials of the laccases from Trametes hirsuta 56, Trametes ochracea 92-78, Cerrena maxima and Coriolopsis fulvocinerea at T1 site were very similar (780, 790, 750 and 780 mV, respectively). Klonowska et al. (2002) reported that the basidiomycete C30 produced simultaneously both a low and a high redox potential laccase. More recently, Shleev et al. (2005) suggested that the redox potentials of the T2 copper sites in many multicopper oxidases might have a formal potential value close to 400 mV vs NHE.

Although a few laccases have been isolated from plant sources, e.g., lacquer (*R. vernicifera*), sycamore (*Ficus* sycomorus) and tobacco (*Nicotiana tabacum* L.), most known laccases are fungal in origin (e.g. white-rot fungi) and are extracellular enzymes (Schneider *et al.* 1999; Antorini *et al.* 2002). Also, it has been reported that laccases are widespread in bacteria like *Escherichia coli*, *Pseudomonas* syringae, Xanthomonas campestris and *Pseudomonas putida* (Alexandre and Zhulin 2000).

Laccases have found several applications in bioremediation. Thus, laccases have been used for the treatment of phenolic effluents, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) (Böhmer *et al.* 1998; D'Annibale *et al.* 2000; Ullah *et al.* 2000) as well as for the decolouration of textile dyes (Kandelbauer and Gübitz 2005). The recent interest in laccases is, in part, a consequence of the finding that laccases can also oxidise non-phenolic compounds in the presence of certain com-



Fig. 2 Catalytic reactions of fungal laccases: The enzyme oxidises the substrate molecules with type 1 copper by four step-wise transfers of one electron. The reoxidation of laccase is brought about by the diamagnetic type 3 copper pair, which transfers four electrons in two-electron steps to O₂. The oxidation of monomers creates reactive radicals that can undergo non-enzymatic coupling reactions. Degradation of polymers is catalysed by low molecular mass substances. After activation of these mediator molecules by laccase, they diffuse from the active enzyme site to susceptible structures of the polymers. (Adapted from Claus 2003).



Fig. 3 The oxidation cycle of a laccase/mediator system towards nonphenolic substrates. (Figure re-printed from Astolfi *et al.* (2005) *New Journal of Chemistry*, **29**, 1308-1317, with kind permission of the Royal Society of Chemistry).

pounds, which act as redox mediators, (Bourbonnais and Paice 1990; Eggert et al. 1996). Redox mediators are lowmolecular weight compounds that are easily oxidised by laccases producing, in some cases, very unstable and reactive cationic radicals, which can oxidise more complex substrates before returning to their original state (Fig. 3). The electrons taken by laccases are finally transferred back to oxygen to form water (McGuirl and Dooley 1999; Wong and Yu 1999). Typical mediators are 2-2'-azino-bis-(3ethyl-benzothiazoline-6-sulphonic acid) (ABTS) (Cantarella et al. 2003), N-hydroxybenzotriazole (HBT) (Kleen et al. 2003) and violuric acid (Li et al. 1999). The laccase mediator system (LMS) has yet to be applied on a large scale due to the cost of synthetic mediators (for example, 1 g of ABTS costs 33.30 euros; 100 g of HBT 85.90 euros; 10 g of violuric acid 40.20 euros; https://www.sigmaaldrich.com/ catalog/) and the lack of studies that guarantee the absence of toxic effects of these compounds or their derivatives. The use of naturally-occurring laccase mediators would present environmental and economic advantages. Recently, Camarero et al. (2005) reported that several lignin-derived phenols (such as syringaldehyde and acetosyringone) represented ecofriendly alternatives to synthetic mediators for the degradation of different types of dyes and other recalcitrant compounds by laccase in terms of both efficiency and velocity of oxidation. Thus, in the presence of the above-mentioned mediators a decolouration percentage of about 80% in 5 min for the triarylmethane-type dye Aniline Blue and higher than 80% in 5 min for the diazo dye Reactive Black 5 was obtained. Laccase alone was not able to decolourise the latter.

LACCASE APPLICATIONS IN POLLUTION CONTROL

Detection of toxic compounds

Biosensors can make ideal sensing systems to monitor the effects of pollution on the environment due to their biological base, ability to operate in complex matrices, short response time and small size (Dennison and Turner 1995). The determination of phenol and its derivative compounds is of environmental importance, since these species are released into the environment by a large number of industries, e.g. the manufacture of plastics, dyes, drugs, antioxidants and wastewater from pulp and paper production (Canofeni *et al.* 1994; Yaropolov*et al.* 1995; Svitel *et al.* 1998; Nistor *et al.* 1999; Freire *et al.* 2000).

Phenols are also breakdown products from natural organic compounds such as humic substances, lignins and tannins. Certain phenols and related aromatic compounds are highly toxic, carcinogenic and allergenic and due to their toxic effects, their determination and removal in the environment are of great importance.

Most phenols exhibit different toxicities and their determination is very important for evaluating the total toxicity of an environmental sample. In general, phenolic compounds are subjected to chromatographic separation before detection. However, the separation takes time and often requires pre-concentration. In addition, the equipment is expensive and is not generally portable. A device which permits the detection of phenols in aqueous solutions at a concentration in the low micro molar range with minimal sample preparation will be useful (Vianello *et al.* 2004).

The maximum amount of phenols in wastewater allowed by the European Community is lower than 1 mg/L in European Community countries (European Community "Urban Water Directive" 91/271/EC), of 0.1 mg/L in Brazil (Secretaria de Saúde e do Medio Ambiente, State Law 5/89), of 1 mg/L in Japan (Water Pollution Control Law and Tochigi Prefecture ordinances)), of 0.5 mg/L in U.S. (Ersöz et al. 2003) and, therefore, the detection and monitoring of phenols in wastewater is not an easy task. Apart from the classical method of Folin-Ciocalteau, various methods based on spectrophotometry (Bosch et al. 1987), enzyme assay (Mosca et al. 2000), HPLC (Ong et al. 1989; Zhao and Lee 2001), gas chromatography (Bartak et al. 2000) and gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (Angerosa et al. 1995; Tasioula-Margari and Okogeri 2001) have been proposed to determine phenols in aqueous solutions. Although some of these methods are characterised by high sensitivity, they are relatively cumbersome and often need derivatisation and pre-concentration steps. To overcome these drawbacks, biosensors using laccase as a detection element have been developed to detect phenols in effluents (Yaropolov et al. 1995; Freire et al. 2002; Kulys and Vidziunaite 2003). Table 1 shows the development of laccase-based biosensors for the detection of environmental pollutants (mainly phenols) in polluted sites in recent years. Thus, Marko-Varga et al. (1995) developed a biosensor in which tyrosinase, laccase and peroxidase were implemented in amperometric electrodes, allowing the screening of complex real environmental samples for phenolic compounds with an accurate detection of down to sub- μ g/L levels. Freire *et al.* (2001) showed that a biosensor in which laccase was immobilised using glutaraldehyde and carbodiimide exhibited an excellent stability and maintained the laccase activity over 2 months. Freire et al. (2002) developed a new system for amperometric determination of phenolic compounds in paper mill effluents. The method was based on a flow system, a dialysis sampler and a laccase-based biosensor. The biosensor allowed its application for direct measurements in complex media with no sample pre-treatment and showed an excellent long-term stability allowing measurements for more than 3 months. In addition, this laccase-based biosensor showed selective measurements of micromolar concentration of phenol, p-chlorophenol, guaiacol and chloroguaiacol. Also, Kulys and Vidziunaite (2003) developed graphite

 Table 1 Application of laccases for the detection of toxic compounds.

Application	Laccase source	Reference
Biosensors for monitoring lignin in wastewater from pulp and paper industry	Trametes hirsuta	Shleev et al. 2006
Biosensor for detection of phenols in OMW	Rigidoporus lignosus	Vianello et al. 2006
Biosensor for determination of phenols in environmental control	Trametes versicolor	Roy et al. 2005
Biosensor for determination of xenobiotics in wastewater	T. versicolor, Aspergillus niger	Timur et al. 2004
	and Agaricus bisporus tissues	
Biosensor for detection of phenols in OMW	R. lignosus	Vianello et al. 2004
Biosensor for determination of phenolic and related compounds in wastewater	Polyporus pinsitus,	Kulys and Vidziunaite 2003
	Myceliophthora thermophila*	
Biosensor for determination of phenolic compounds in effluent samples from paper mills	Coriolus hirsutus	Freire et al. 2002
Biosensor for phenol monitoring in wastewater	T. versicolor	Freire et al. 2001
Biosensor for determination of phenolic compounds in real water samples	C. hirsutus	Marko-Varga et al. 1995

electrodes based biosensors containing recombinant laccase of *Polyporus pinsitus* and *Myceliophthora thermophila* for the determination of phenol and related compounds under steady-state and flow-through regimes.

On the other hand, Vianello et al. (2004) showed that a biosensor based on covalent immobilisation of laccase from Rigidoporus lignosus detected phenols at a sensitivity of 3 $nA/\mu M$ and a detection limit of 2 μM , when 1,4-hydroquinone was used as a substrate. Although the amount of enzyme immobilised (about 140 ng laccase/cm²) was tiny, the biosensor had a lifetime comparable with devices with much higher enzyme loads such as those above-mentioned developed by Freire et al. (2002) and Kulys and Vidziunaite (2003). In addition, because of the low substrate specificity of the immobilised laccase from R. lignosus, the proposed biosensor can be used to detect a large number of phenols occurring in olive mill wastewater (OMW). Timur et al. (2004) developed thick film electrode based biosensors containing T. versicolor and Aspergillus niger laccases and Agaricus bisporus tissues for determining phenolic compounds. They showed that the obtained biosensors could be used as simple, rapid and direct methods for determining xenobiotics in wastewater samples without requiring sample pretreatment. Recently, Roy et al. (2005) showed that crosslinked enzyme crystals (CLECs) can be used for biosensor application. Thus, they developed a biosensor containing CLECs of laccase from T. versicolor which was able to detect phenols at 50-1000 µmol concentration level. The CLECs of laccase has an added advantage over the soluble enzyme in the biosensor application: it has an optimum pH range of 5.5-6, which is nearer to the neutral, whereas the optimum pH range for the soluble enzyme is 3-4. This biosensor could be used to detect the quantity of catechol and catechins in tea and antioxidants like pyrogallol and ferulic acid in food and beverages and organic pollutants like 2amino phenol in wastewater. More recently, Shleev et al. (2006) designed biosensors with laccase from T. hirsuta to monitor kraft and soluble pine lignin in wastewater from the pulp and paper industry and Vianello et al. (2006) presented a laccase-based biosensor that detected phenolics with a 100 nA/µM sensitivity and a detection limit of about 30 nM.

Bioremediation of industrial wastewater

The rapid expansion and technological improvement in industrial fields in the last 30 years has meant an increasing amount and complexity of toxic waste effluents. At the same time, regulatory authorities have paid more attention to environmental problems and as a consequence industrial companies are forced to treat their waste effluents before discharging them into the environment.

Wastewater from the textile industry

One of the more urgent problems facing the textile industry is the removal of colour from dyebath effluents prior to discharge them to local sewage treatment facilities. During textile processing, it is estimated that due to inefficient methods almost 15% of all dyestuff is lost to the environment (Zollinger 1987), leading to the accumulation of highly undesirable pollution load in water bodies. Wastewater from textile industries is a complex mixture of many polluting substances such as organochlorine-based pesticides, heavy metals, pigments and dyes. Its composition has been discussed in detail by O'Neill *et al.* (1999).

Currently, through new regulations, pressure is being placed on companies to reduce the amount of colour in industrial wastewater in developed and developing countries. Several industrial-scale decolouration systems are commercially available (Willmott *et al.* 1998), which include adsorption, filtration, precipitation and activated sludge systems. All of these technologies work by concentrating the dyestuffs and transferring them to a solid phase that subsequently needs disposal. Anaerobic degradation of synthetic dyes by bacteria has been reported to produce carcinogenic and/or mutagenic products (Valli et al. 1992).

Biodegradation using ligninolytic enzymes has been suggested as one of the most attractive alternatives for the treatment of dyes (Robinson et al. 2001). Among such enzymes, laccases are highly interesting for the treatment of wastewater from the textile industry due to their broad substrate specificity. Thus, laccases have been found able to decolourise a wide range of synthetic dyes (Table 2). However, despite of the potential of laccases for the decolouration of textile wastewater, there are very few studies involving real textile wastewater (Table 2). Hence, Rodríguez Couto et al. (2002) studied the decolouration of different synthetic dyes (Acid Fuchsine, Congo Red and Indigo Carmine) by barley bran cultures of T. versicolor grown under SSF (solid-state fermentation) conditions. Dye decolouration was almost complete (85-96%) after 6 days of dye incubation. Moldes et al. (2003) studied the decolouration of several synthetic dyes by laccase obtained from T. hirsuta cultures grown on grape seeds under solid-state conditions. They found that the dyes Indigo Carmine and Bromophenol Blue were totally decolourised in 24 h whereas Methyl Orange and Phenol Red were decolurised by 65% and 36% for the same period, respectively. Also, Rancaño *et al.* (2003) studied the decolouration of the synthetic dye Phenol Red by laccase from T. versicolor produced in an airlift reactor and found that 34% of Phenol Red was decolourised in 27 h.

Novotny et al. (2004b) reported that Irpex lacteus decolourised a broad spectrum of chemically different synthetic dyes at a concentration of 200 mg/L in stationary liquid cultures. Decolouration levels after two weeks were 60-100%. Also, I. lacteus immobilised on pinewood cubes decolourised 100% of Remazol Brilliant Blue R (RBBR) (150 mg/L) within six days. It also efficiently decolourised textile industry effluents containing colour mixtures Drimarene Blue, Drimarene Red, Remazol Green and Acid Black, achieving decolouration percentages of 100%, 80%, 45% and 35%, respectively, within 3-5 days. Rodríguez Couto et al. (2004a) found that laccase produced by T. hirsuta immobilised on stainless steel sponges in an immersion bioreactor was able to decolourise the leather dyes Luganil Green (16.2% in 2 h) and Sella Solid Red (40% in 2 h). In addition, Rodríguez Couto et al. (2004b) reported the decolouration of several synthetic dyes by laccase from T. hirsuta produced in solid-sate cultures of barley bran. High decolourisation percentages in short incubation times were achieved for Bromophenol Blue, Indigo Carmine and Methyl Orange, whereas Poly R-478 presented much more resistance to degradation. Moreover, Rodríguez Couto et al. (2004c) reported that the textile dye Indigo Carmine was almost totally degraded in 3 days by *T. hirsuta* immobilised on stainless steel sponge grown in a fixed-bed bioreactor, while Lanaset Marine was degraded in two successive batches, reaching in the first batch a decolouration percentage of about 82% in 15 h and in the second one 71% in 28 h. Gómez et al. (2005) found that laccase from barley bran cultures of the white-rot fungus Coriolopsis rigida decolourised the synthetic dyes Indigo Carmine (100% in 4 h), Methyl Green (90% in 24 h) and Methyl Orange (80% after 24 h). Rodríguez Couto and Sanromán (2005) studied the decolouration ability of the white-rot fungus T. hirsuta grown on coconut flesh under SSF conditions. For this, the decolouration of the textile dye Lissamine Green B in vivo and in vitro was performed. The former showed a decolouration percentage higher than 96% in 2.5 h whereas the latter led to a decolouration percentage between 42% and 66% in 12 h depending on the culture age.

Held *et al.* (2005) showed for the first time that sporebound laccases, which are stable at high temperatures and pH values, could be used for the decolouration of the common textile dyes Mordant Black 9, Mordant Brown 96/ Mordant Brown 15 and Acid Blue 74. The dyes were decolourised within 90 min of incubation time. In addition, the decolourised solutions were successfully used in re-dyeing. Kamida *et al.* (2005) reported the decolouration of a textile

Table 2 Application of laccases to bioremediation

Application	Laccase source	Reference
Decolouration of a textile dve	Trametes versicolor	Blánquez et al. 2007
Degradation of NP. BPA and TCS	Coriolopsis polyzona	Cabana <i>et al.</i> 2007
Degradation of BPA	T. versicolor	Diano <i>et al.</i> 2007
Decolouration of textile dyes	Ischnoderma resinosum	Kokol <i>et al.</i> 2007
Treatment of effluent from Kraft bleaching process	T versicolor	Minussi <i>et al.</i> (2007)
Decolouration of Reactive Black 5	Pleurotus saior-caiu	Murugesan <i>et al.</i> 2007a
Decolouration of reactive dyes	Ganoderma lucidum	Murugesan <i>et al.</i> 2007h
Decolouration of synthetic dyes	Tramatas nuhascans	Osma <i>et al.</i> 2007
Decolouration of an industrial effluent containing a mixture of dues	Ganodorma sp. WR-1	Revenker and Lele 2007
Decredation of nhenols in OMW	T versicolor	Ryan et al. 2007
Decolouration of synthetic dyes	Collubia dryonhila, Mycana inclinata, Stronharia	Baldrian and Šnair 2006
Decolouration of synthetic dyes	rugosognnulata Plaurotus ostraatus and T varsicolor	Dateman and Shaji 2000
Decolouration of a taxtile due	T yourieelen	Plónguoz et al 2006:
Decolouration of a textile dye	1. Versicolor	Blanquez et al. 2006,
Deceloperation of taxtile drive	Dhanana ahaata ahaanaananinan Turanaisalan	Röhmen et al. 2006
Decolouration of textile dyes	r nanerocnaele chrysosportum, 1. versicolor	Bolimer et al. 2006
Degradation of PCE	1. versicolor	Marco-Urrea <i>et al.</i> 2006
Decolouration of an anthraquinoic dye	Trametes trogii	Mechichi <i>et al.</i> 2006
Decolouration of textile dyes	Cyathus bulleri	Mishra and Bisaria 2006
Remediation of OMW	P. ostreatus	Olivieri <i>et al.</i> 2006
Degradation of different PAHs	P. ostreatus	Pozdnyakova <i>et al.</i> 2006
Decolouration of synthetic dyes	Trametes hirsuta	Rodríguez Couto <i>et al.</i> 2006
Decolouration of synthetic dyes	T. hirsuta	Rodríguez Couto and
		Sanromán 2006
Decolouration of synthetic dyes	T. hirsuta	Rodríguez Couto and
		Sanromán 2007
Decolouration of textile azo dyes	Trichophyton rubrum	Yesiladal et al. 2006
Decolouration of textile dyes	T. trogii	Zouari-Mechichi et al. 2006
Decolouration of synthetic dyes	Coriolopsis rigida	Gómez et al. 2005
Decolouration of phenolic dyes	Bacillus SF	Held et al. 2005
Degradation of a textile effluent	P. sajor-caju	Kamida et al. 2005
Degradation of phenolics	Trametes sp.	Michizoe et al. 2005
Degradation of BPA	Novozymes	Modaressi et al. 2005
Decolouration of an anthraquinoic dye	P. ostreatus	Palmieri et al. 2005a, 2005b
Decolouration of textile dyes	T. versicolor	Ramsay et al. 2005
Degradation of lindane	P. ostreatus	Rigas et al. 2005
Decolouration of Lissamine Green B	T. hirsuta	Rodríguez Couto and
		Sanromán 2005
Degradation of phenols, colour and organic load in OMW	Panus tigrinus	D'Annibale et al. 2004
Decolouration and dephenolisation of OMW	P. chrysosporium and basidyomicete Euc-1	Dias et al. 2004
Degradation of PAHs	T. versicolor	Dodor <i>et al.</i> 2004
Detoxification of wastewater polluted with aromatic compounds	Rhus vernicifera	Durante et al. 2004
Degradation of xenobiotics	Marasmius quercophilus	Farnet et al. 2004
Degradation of methoxyclor	T. versicolor	Hirai et al. 2004
Degradation of PCBs	<i>T</i> versicolor and <i>P</i> ostreatus	Keum and Li 2004
Degradation of hydroxylated compounds	R. vernicifera	Möder <i>et al.</i> 2004
Degradation of synthetic dves	Irpex lacteus	Novotny <i>et al</i> 2004a
Degradation of PAHs. PCBs and synthetic dyes	T versicolor Coriolopsis polyzona P ostreatus and	Novotny <i>et al.</i> 2004h
Degradation of 174115, 1 CD5 and synthetic dyes	I lactous	10000thy ci ul. 20040
Degradation of PAHs	Cladosporium sphaerospermum	Potin et al 2004
Degradation of 2.4-dichoronhenol and henzo(a) nurene	Plaurotus arvnaji P ostratus Plaurotus pulmonarius	Rodríguez <i>et al</i> 2004
Degradation of 2,4-dienorophenor and benzo(a)pyrene	and P salorcaiu	Rounguez et ul. 2004
Decolouration of leather dives	T hirsuta	Rodríguez Couto et al 2004a
Decolouration of synthetic dyes	T. hirsuta	Rodríguez Couto et al. 2004a
Decolouration of synthetic dyes	T. hirsuta	Rodríguez Couto et al. 20040
Ovidation of BPA and NP	a fungus isolated from soil (family <i>Chaptomiaceae</i>)	Spite at al 2004
Distant formation of humic soids from soil	<i>a</i> fungus isolated from son (family <i>Chaelomiacede</i>)	Zavarzina at al 2004
Biotransformation of numer actos from son	r. ligrinus	Aggelia et al. 2004
Derhandisation of OMW	r. Ostreatus	Aggens et al. 2003
		Casa <i>et al.</i> 2003
Degradation of mitrobenzene and antifracene	1. trogu	Levin <i>et al.</i> 2003
Decolouration of synthetic dyes	1. mrsuta	Moldes <i>et al.</i> 2003
Decolouration of Phenoi Red	1. versicolor	Rancano <i>et al.</i> 2003
Decolouration of industrial effluents	P. OSIFEATUS	Koariguez et al. 2003
transformation of chlorophenols	1. versicolor	Sedarati et al. 2003
Treatment of NP	Trametes sp.	Ianaka <i>et al.</i> 2003
Treatment of 2,4-DP-polluted soil	Trametes villosa	Ann <i>et al.</i> 2002
Uxidation of PAHs	C. hirsutus	Cho <i>et al</i> . 2002
Removal of phenolics in OMW	P. ostreatus	Fountoulakis <i>et al.</i> 2002
Degradation of lignin from olive pomace	P. chrysosporium, Oxysporus sp., Schizophyllum	Haddadın et al. 2002
	<i>commune</i> , <i>Hyphoderma</i> sp. and <i>Ganoderma</i> sp.	
Decolouration of synthetic dyes	T. versicolor	Rodriguez Couto <i>et al.</i> 2002
Phenolic removal in OMW	Pleurotus spp.	Isioulpas <i>et al.</i> 2002
Degradation of BPA	1. villosa	Fukuda <i>et al.</i> 2001

Table 2 (Cont.)

Application	Laccase source	Reference
Degradation of NP, octylphenol, BPA and ethynylestradiol	Trametes sp.	Tanaka et al. 2001
Degradtion of BPA	T. villosa	Uchida et al. 2001
Phenolic removal in OMW	L. edodes	D'Annibale et al. 2000
Degradation of phenolic pollutants	P. ostreatus	Hublick and Shinner 2000
Biodegradation of phenols	Pyricularia oryzae	Lante et al. 2000
Degradation of PAHS	T. versicolor	Majcherczyk and Johannes
		2000
bioremediation of chlorophenols in aqueous effluents	Coriolus versicolor	Ullah et al. 2000
Treatment of OMW	L. edodes	D'Annibale et al. 1999
Degradation of aromatic xenobiotics	Cerrena unicolor	Gianfreda et al. 1998
Oxidation of PAHs	T. versicolor	Majcherczyk et al. 1998

effluent containing Indigo from a textile factory located at Americana (São Paulo, Brasil) by the edible fungus Pleurotus sajor-caju. Palmieri et al. (2005a) investigated the decolouration of the recalcitrant dye RBBR by the fungus basidiomycete *Pleurotus ostreatus*. They found that when *P*. ostreatus grew in liquid media supplemented with veratryl alcohol, it completely decolourised the dye RBBR in 3 days and, in addition, its toxicity was reduced by 95%. Also, Palmieri et al. (2005b) reported the decolouration of the synthetic dye RBBR by laccase from P. ostreatus immobilised by entrapment in copper alginate beads. Operating under optimal conditions a maximum dye decolouration of 70% was obtained even after 20 cycles. In addition, Ramsay et al. (2005) reported that T. versicolor immobilised into alginate beads decolourised the dyes Amaranth, Reactive Black 5, Reactive Blue 19 and Direct Black 22 and mixtures of these dyes in a stirred-tank reactor.

Blánquez et al. (2006) reported the long-term continuous decolouration of the textile dye Grey Lanaset G (150 mg/L) in an air-pulsed bed bioreactor with retained pellets of the white-rot fungus T. versicolor. For a maximum cellular retention time (CRT) of 40 days, a colour reduction of 90% was obtained. In order to carry out a long-term continuous treatment, they performed a strategy of purge and biomass renovation and found that with a CRT of 21 days carrying out partial biomass renovations every 7 days and with a hydraulic retention time (HRT) of 2 days, decolourisation percentages higher than 80% were obtained. Böhmer et al. (2006) reported the advantages of adapting the tempo-rary immersion RITA[®]-System (Récipient à Immersion Temporaire Automatique) as a bioreactor for laccase production by white-rot fungi and its application to decolouration of the textile dyes Levafix Blue and Remazol Brilliant Red. A successful series of four batch-decolouration processes was performed, which allowed dye decolouration over a long period.

Kokol *et al.* (2007) showed that the culture liquid produced by the white-rot fungus *Ischnoderma resinosum* in combination with redox mediators was able to decolourise synthetic dyebaths containing inorganic salts and the metal chelator ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid (EDTA). Mechichi *et al.* (2006) found that culture filtrates of *Trametes trogiii* induced with Cu⁺² as well as a purified laccase from the same organism decolourised the dye RBBR. The purified laccase decolourised the dye efficiently at a concentration of 100 mg/L in the presence of only 0.2 U/mL of enzyme. Mishra and Bisaria (2006) investigated the decolouration of a number of recalcitrant reactive azo and acid dyes using the culture filtrate and purified laccase from the fungus *Cyathus bulleri*. They observed that both the decolouration rate and the decolouration percentage were considerably increased by the addition of ABTS.

Rodríguez Couto *et al.* (2006) studied the decolouration of different synthetic dyes by the extracellular liquid of *T. hirsuta* grown on grape seeds under SSF conditions in a tray bioreactor operating with grape seeds as a support. They found that the dyes Bromophenol Blue, Indigo Carmine, Methyl Green, Malachite Green and Methyl Orange were decolourised higher than 80% in 20-24 h. Also, Rodríguez Couto and Sanromán (2006) showed the ability of the extracellular liquid from *T. hirsuta* cultures grown on groundnut seeds under SSF conditions to decolourise the dyes Nickel (II) phthalocyanine, Lissamine Green B and Acid Black 48 (higher than 30% in 24 h).

Romero et al. (2006) showed that using an air-pulsed bioreactor with T. versicolor under laccase production conditions to decolourise the dye Grey Lanaset G was better than using the laccase enzyme, because possible product inhibition was avoided. In addition, they also showed that the dye degradation could be improved by using an appropriate dye pulse strategy. More recently, Blánquez et al. (2007) established the operational conditions for the continuous treatment process of the metal complex dye Grey Lanaset G (150 mg/L), in a fluidized-bed bioreactor using air pulses with retained pellets of the white rot fungus T. versicolor. Decolourisation was highly efficient (>80%) for the different HRTs tested ranging from 18 to 120 h, and the dye removal rates ranged from 6.73 to 1.16 mg/L'h. However, no direct relationship between decolourisation and extracellular laccase activity was found and high laccase activities were not necessary to obtain high decolourisation percentages

Yesiladah *et al.* (2006) studied the potential of the wood-degrading fungus, *Trichophyton rubrum* LSK-27, for effective decolouration of textile azo dyes. Within two days of dye addition, the fungus was able to decolourise 83% of Remazol Tiefschwarz, 86% of Remazol Blue RR and 80% of Supranol Turquoise GGL in liquid cultures. The reactive dyes, Remazol Tiefschwarz and Remazol Blue, were removed by fungal biodegradation, while the acid dye Supranol Turquoise GGL was mainly accomplished by bioadsorption. Also, Zouari-Mechichi *et al.* (2006) found that crude laccase as well as purified laccase from *T. trogii* were able to decolourise dyes from the textile industry.

Baldrian and Šnajr (2006) compared ligninolytic enzyme production and synthetic dye decolouration ability of litter-decomposing basidiomycete fungi and white-rot fungi. They found that litter-decomposing fungi represent a promising alternative to white-rot fungi with respect to dye decolouration.

Murugesan *et al.* (2007a) showed that the presence of HBT was essential for the decolouration of the dye Reactive Black 5 by a purified laccase from the white-rot fungus *P. sajor-caju.* Murugesan *et al.* (2007b) showed the dye decolourising potential of the crude laccase from the white rot fungus *Ganoderma lucidum* for recalcitrant textile dyes such as RBBR. Osma *et al.* (2007) investigated the potential of the extracellular liquid from banana skin cultures of the white-rot fungus *Trametes pubescens* for dye decolouration. The dye RBBR was decolourised about 57% in 4 h and the dye Methyl Green 40.9% in 4 h. Interestingly, RBBR decolouration was considerably higher than that attained by a commercial laccase (23.2% in 4 h), whereas MG decolouration (46% in 4 h) was very similar for both laccases.

Revankar and Lele (2007) investigated the decolouration of recalcitrant dyes by the white-rot fungus *Ganoderma* sp. They found a maximum decolouration of 96% for the dye Amaranth (100 mg/L) in 8 h in an optimised medium. In addition, *Ganoderma* sp decolourised the dyes Reactive Orange 16, Cibacron Brilliant Red 3B-A, Acid Red 106, Orange II and RBBR. Moreover, complete decolouration of an industrial effluent containing a mixture of reactive dyes was achieved in 12 days.

Rodríguez Couto and Sanromán (2007) investigated the effect of the redox mediator violuric acid on the decolouration of the two recalcitrant acid dyes Acid Red 97 and Acid Green 26 by crude laccase from *T. hirsuta*. The LMS led to a higher extent of decolouration in shorter times than that obtained without mediator addition, especially for the dye Acid Red 97 which was decolourised by 90% in only 3 min.

From the exposed above, it can be concluded that individual dye structures influence the decolourisation extent obtained by laccase, indicating the specificity of laccase towards different dye structures. In addition, laccase produced for different organisms and/or under different culture conditions has different decolouring abilities.

Wastewater from the pulp and paper industry

Chlorine is an effective and widely used bleaching agent for chemically produced wood pulps. However, chlorination followed by alkaline extraction results in large volumes of effluents containing substantial levels of adsorbable organic halogens (AOX), primarily in the form of chlorophenols, chloroguaiacols, chloroaliphatics, chlorocatechols, chlorosyringols and large polymerised chloroaromatics. The presence of such compounds causes a great environmental impact. The treatment of such effluent streams involving activated sludge frequently faces serious problems to control the activity of wild microorganisms due to their biodiversity and unpredictability. Laccases appear as very promising enzymes to treat this type of effluents due to their potential to degrade both highly toxic phenolic compounds and lignin (Mansur et al. 1998; Gianfreda and Rao 2004). In addition, laccases are also able to oxidise the non-phenolic subunits of lignin by the addition of redox mediators (Bourbonnais and Paice 1992).

Minussi *et al.* (2007) studied for the first time the treatment of E_1 effluent (first-stage of basic extraction of Kraft bleaching process using *Eucalyptus grandis* woods) by laccase and N-OH mediator system. They found a phenol reduction around 23% in the presence of 100 U laccase and in the absence of mediators and observed that the presence of HBT did not increase phenol reduction. However, acetohydroxamic acid (AHA) at a concentration of 0.34 mM, which was not degraded by laccase (50 U), acted very efficiently on E1 effluent reducing 70% and 73% of the total phenol and total organic carbon, respectively, in 3 h. At the same conditions 50 U of laccase in the absence of AHA reduced only 15% of the total phenols after 3 h.

Wastewater from the food industry

Some fractions of beer-factory wastewater represent an important environmental concern due to their high content of polyphenols (mainly tannins) and dark-brown colour. Yagüe *et al.* (2000) studied the ability of *Coriolopsis gallica*, a white-rot fungus producer of laccase, to degrade this high-tannin-containing wastewater. They found a reduction in polyphenol pyrolysis product content with the incubation time. Thus, they found a decrease of 22.4% for phenol, 60.8% for guaiacol, 57.6% for 4-methylguaiacol and 31.6% for 4-vinylguaiacol at day 12 of incubation in a medium containing 20% (v/v) of a beer-factory effluent.

The disposal of vinasse, the major effluent from the ethanol industry, represents a considerable environmental problem. This black liquid that is produced at a rate 10 to 15 times greater than the ethanol itself is a mixture of water and organic and inorganic compounds. These compounds remain after different steps involving the sugar cane production and processing. Rodríguez *et al.* (2003) studied the decolouration of vinasse effluents from a destillery factory by submerged cultures of *Pleurotus* spp. They found a dec-

reased in chemical oxigen demand (COD) (38% after 10 days) and colour (39% after 10 days) of such effluents after fungal treatment.

OMW is a characteristic by-product of olive oil production and a major environmental problem in the Mediterranean area, where is produced in quantities higher than 30 million m' per year, constituting an important phenolic waste. Its phenolic compounds are responsible for its black colour and its toxic properties in ecosystems (Pérez et al. 1992; Martirani et al. 1996). The main risks associated with the release of OMW in the environment are due to its high organic load and to the significant presence of phenolic components (Moreno et al. 1987; Sayadi et al. 2000), the concentration of which may easily reach 5-10 g/L, depending on cultivar, harvesting season and extraction process (D'Annibale et al. 2004). Several authors have shown that laccase is able to remove OMW phenolics (Table 2). Thus, Gianfreda et al. (1998) showed that laccase from Cerrena unicolor was able to oxidise different phenolic substances usually present in OMW with oxidation percentages ranging from 60 to 100% after 24 h of laccase incubation. D'Annibale et al. (1999) reported the decolouration and detoxification of OMW with a laccase from Lentinus edodes immobilised on chitosan. Subsequently (D'Annibale et al. 2000), they found that the same laccase immobilised on Eupergit® C led to a significant reduction in total phenols of an OMW. Also, Fountoulakis et al. (2002) investigated the capability of *P. ostreatus* to degrade phenols of OMW in different conditions. Thus, the degradation of phenols reached up to 78.3% for the sterilised and 50% diluted OMW and 66.7% and 64.7% for the thermally processed OMW, with and without dilution, respectively.

Haddadin et al. (2002) studied the delignification of alkaline pretreated pommace from olive oil processing by several wood-decaying fungi and found an evident relationship between ligninase and laccase activity and the extent of lignin degradation. Tsioulpas et al. (2002) showed the ability of several Pleurotus spp. strains to grow in OMW without any addition of nutrients and to remove a significant part (69-76%) of the phenolic compounds present as well as to produce high laccase activity. However, it was found that the remaining phenolics and/or some of the oxidation products of the laccase reaction in the treated OMW were more toxic than the original phenolic compounds. On the contrary, Casa et al. (2003) evaluated the potential of a laccase-based treatment for removing OMW phytotoxicity and found that the treatment with laccase resulted in a 65% and 86% reduction in total phenols and ortho-diphenols, respectively, due to their polymerisation.

Aggelis et al. (2003) reported that P. ostreatus was able to reduce the phenolic content and toxicity of sterilised OMW in bioreactor cultures. However, high OMW dilutions should be used, and/or additional treatment should be applied before using the OMW in the environment, e.g. as water for irrigation. Also, D'Annibale et al. (2004) assessed the potential of the white-rot fungus Panus tigrinus in removing organic load, colour and toxic phenols from OMW. They observed a delay in removal of colour, organic load and phenol by the fungus at an initial soluble COD of 85000 mg/L which was associated with a delayed onset of laccase and manganese-dependent peroxidase production. However, P. tigrinus removed the above-mentioned components promptly and efficiently when grown on OMW with an initial soluble COD content of 43000 mg/L. Dias et al. (2004) reported that the basidiomycete Euc-1, a laccase producing strain, removed 90% of phenols (initial concentration 800 mg/L), 73% of colour (initial A_{465} =4.4) and 45% of COD in batch cultures containing OMW. Since partial phenol removal occurred before the detection of laccase activity, no plausible correlation could be established between them. In contrast, decolouration occurred only after the detection of laccase activity and coincided with its production over time

Olivieri *et al.* (2006) showed that *P. ostreatus* effectively grew on raw OMW at polyphenol concentrations as

large as 1.4 g/L and exhibited a remarkable ability to catalyse polyphenol bioconversion. Thus, bioconversion of polyphenols was as large as 70% over 4-7 incubation days increasing to 95% over the same time period when added nutrients were supplied. No appreciable decolouration took place along with remediation. The process was satisfactorily scaled to an internal loop airlift bioreactor.

Wastewater containing EDCs (xenoestrogens)

There are increasing concerns about potential adverse effects on human health and environment resulting from the disposal of numerous chemicals that otherwise improve human life and economic activities. Household chemicals, pharmaceuticals and other consumables as well as biogenic hormones are released into the environment after passing through wastewater treatment processes, which are not designed to remove them. Such substances are potential endocrine disrupting chemicals (EDCs) (xenoestrogens). Among them, nonylphenol (NP) (4-nonylphenol), bisphenol A (BPA) (2,2-bis(4-hydroxyphenol)propane) and triclosan (TCS) (5-chloro-2(2,4-dichlorophenoxy) phenol) are the most frequently detected in downstream effluents of intense urbanization (Kolpin *et al.* 2002; Boyd *et al.* 2004).

The presence of the above-mentioned compounds in the aquatic environment is of special concern since they tend to bioacumulate causing a serious health and environmental problem. Laccases appear as a promising alternative to remove these xenobiotics from the aquatic environment (**Table 2**). In addition, recently Cabana *et al.* (2007) showed that enzymatic treatment with laccase of NP, BPA and TCS removed their estrogenic activity.

Hublick and Shinner (2000) showed that a laccase from P. ostreatus immobilised on Eupergit[®] C allowed the continuous elimination of 2,6-dimethoxyphenol. Interestingly, the precipitates resulting from oxidative coupling of such a compound were found to be insoluble at conditions predominating in industrial wastewater which would make possible their further filtration. Lante et al. (2000) found that a commercial laccase immobilised on a spiral-wound asymmetric polyethersulphone membrane was able to oxidise a wide range of phenols including chlorophenols, cresols and methoxyphenols. Their results confirmed that the type and/or the position of the substituent group affected the level of oxidation. Ullah et al. (2000) showed that laccase from C. versicolor grown in both wheat husk and wheat bran removed 100% of 2,4-dichlorophenol (2,4-DCP) (50 mg/L) in 5 h and 75-80% of pentachlorophenol (PCP) (50 mg/L) in 24 h at flask scale. In addition, C. versicolor immobilised on wheat bran pellets was added to chlorophenol solutions in 200-4000-mL bioreactors resulting in a removal of chlorophenols higher than 90% in 100 min. Also, Sedarati et al. (2003) showed that T. versicolor immobilised on nylon mesh in a 2-L bioreactor removed PCP and 2,4-DCP more efficiently than free cultures. They found that 85% of 2,4-DCP (2000 mg/L) and 70% of PCP (3400 mg/L) were transformed by enzymes (laccase and manganese-peroxidase) after 1020 h of treatment. Moreover, Durante et al. (2004) showed that non-isothermal bioreactors with laccase from *R. vernicifera* immobilised on a nylon membrane were a promising tool for the detoxification of wastewater polluted with phenolic compounds.

Fukuda *et al.* (2001) found that BPA was rapidly degraded by a laccase, which was extracted and purified from DeniLite, a Novozymes' product (Novozymes A/S, Denmark), leading to two kinds of compounds one of which was identified as 4-isopropylphenol. Hirai *et al.* (2004) found that the pesticide methoxychlor was converted into methoxychlor olefin and 4,4'-dimethoxybenzophenone by laccase-HBT treatment. Keum and Li (2004a) tested commercial laccases from *T. versicolor* and *P. ostreatus* to degrade hydroxy PCBs and found that laccase from *T. versicolor* degraded hydroxy PCBs more rapidly than that from *P. ostreatus*. They also found that degradation rate constants decreased with increase of chlorination and no degradation was observed with tetra-, penta- and hexa-chloro hydroxy PCBs in non-mediated reactions.

Möder *et al.* (2004) studied the degradation of selected hydroxylated aromatic compounds (3,4-dimethylphenols, 4ethylphenol, 2-hydroxy-1,2,3,4-tetrahydronaphthalene, 2hydroxy-decahydronaphthalene and 4-hydroxy-biphenyl) from water samples by microporous polypropylene hollow fiber membranes impregnated with horseradish peroxidase (HRP) and laccase. It was found that, with the exception of 2-hydroxydecahydronaphthalene, all substrates were efficiently degraded (50-100% within 48 h). Interestingly, laccase exhibited more unselective degradation results than HRP. Saito *et al.* (2004) found that a purified laccase from a fungus (family *Chaetomiaceae*) rapidly oxidised the EDCs BPA and NP in the absence of mediators and, in addition, their estrogenic activities were completely removed in 24 h.

Michizoe et al. (2005) showed that the combination of surfactant-laccase complexes and reverse micelles created an homogeneous organic solvent system for biocatalysis, which would lead to efficient degradation of environmental pollutants at higher concentrations than in aqueous degradation systems. In particular, they found that the oxidation of BPA led to two products: 4-isopropylphenol and 4-isopropenylphenol, indicating the oxidative degradation of the bis-phenolic structure of BPA. They also found that the surfactant-laccase complex turned out to handle other environmental pollutants, chlorophenols, by the simultaneous addition of water and a redox mediator into the reaction medium using reverse micelles. Also, Modaressi et al. (2005) treated synthetic wastewater containing BPA with laccase enzyme. Optimisation of pH, laccase concentration, polyethylene glycol (PEG) as an additive allowed the conversion and precipitation of BPA (95%) over 3 h of reaction period. In addition, PEG reduced enzyme inactivation. Thus, they found that in the absence of PEG the precipitate formed inactivated laccase while the precipitate formed in the presence of PEG protected laccase.

Rigas *et al.* (2005) studied the degradation of lindane in liquid-agitated cultures of a commercial strain of *P. ostreatus.* Under optimal conditions, the maximum biodegradetion of lindane, expressed as the extent of biodegradation relative to initial lindane mass and to final biomass, was found equal to 25.8 mg/g/g (degraded lindane/initial lindane/biomass), in 12.45 days.

Cabana *et al.* (2007) investigated the degradation of the EDCs NP (5 mg/L), BPA (5 mg/L) and TCS (5 mg/L) by laccase from the white rot fungus *Coriolopsis polyzona*. After a 4-h treatment NP and BPA were totally removed whereas TCS was removed by 65%. The addition of ABTS significantly increased the efficiency of the laccase treatment. In addition, it was shown that the laccase treatment produced high molecular weight metabolites through a radical polymerisation mechanism of NP, BPA and TCS.

Diano *et al.* (2007) showed the useful application of the technology of non-isothermal reactors with immobilised laccase in processes of bioremediation of water polluted by phenol compounds, in particular certain EDCs such as BPA.

Ryan *et al.* (2007) studied the bioremediation of a phenolic wastewater from a coal gasification plant located in Australia by *T. versicolor* at flask scale. They found that under optimised conditions 0.125 g phenol/g biomass and 0.231 g o-cresol/g biomass were removed from solution per day.

Soil bioremediation

For the treatment of recalcitrant compounds in soils, bioremediation has been receiving much attention in last decades (Crawford 1996).

Bollag and co-workers (Bollag *et al.* 1982; Dec and Bollag 1990; Hatcher *et al.* 1993; Tatsumi *et al.* 1994a, 1994b) have repeatedly demonstrated the ability of laccases to detoxify different xenobiotics by cross-linking them to various humic constituencies. Irreversible binding of these pollutants by laccases has been shown to prevent further spread of the contaminants through soil or leaching into underground water. Thus, laccase was able to mediate the coupling of reduced 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene (TNT) metabolites to an organic soil matrix, which resulted in detoxification of the munition residue (Durán and Esposito 2000). Also, Nyanhongo *et al.* (2006) showed that laccase isoenzymes were involved in immobilisation of TNT degradation products.

PAHs together with other xenobiotics are a major source of contamination in soil; therefore, their degradation is of great importance for the environment. The oxidation of PAHs by laccases from numerous fungi has been reported (Table 2). Majcherczyk et al. (1998) reported that laccase from T. versicolor was able to oxidise in vitro more than 14 PAHs. Thus, acenaphthylene was removed by 37%, anthracene and benzo(α)pyrene by 18 and 19%, respectively and an oxidation of about 10% was found for acenaphthene, fluoranthene, pyrene, benzo(α)anthracene, chrysene, benzo (β) fluoranthene, benzo (κ) fluoranthene and perylene after incubation for 72 h by laccase. Addition of HBT to the reaction mixture increased the oxidation of the following PAHs: acenaphthylene, acenaphthene, fluorene, anthracene, benzo(α)pyrene and perylene, which were almost completely removed. In addition, the oxidation of pyrene and benzo(α)anthracene increased from 8 and 6% without a mediator to 48 and 53%, respectively, in the presence of HBT. Also, Majcherczyk and Johannes (2000) reported the oxidation of a high molecular model compound of PAH by the LMS with the formation of two main oxidation products. Cho et al. (2002) studied the oxidation of five PAHs (20 μ M): anthracene, benzo(α)pyrene, fluoranthene, phenanthrene and pyrene by laccase from Coriolus hirsutus in the presence of the redox mediators ABTS (1 mM) and HBT (1 mM). ABTS increased the oxidation of $benzo(\alpha)$ pyrene more than HBT but the oxidation of the other PAHs tested were the opposite. Also, it was found that the mediators used in conjunction increased the oxidation of $benzo(\alpha)$ pyrene (100% after 20 min) compared to using the mediators alone (60% in 20 min).

Tanaka et al. (2001) studied a laccase-based treatment for the remediation of sand contaminated with phenolic EDCs. They found that laccase from Trametes sp decreased the amounts of NP, octylphenol, BPA and ethynylestradiol (synthetic estrogen) adsorbed on sea sand (2 μ mol/g) in a test tube with shaking. The system was efficiently scaled-up to a rotating reactor. This treatment system will be useful for the rapid remediation of soil and bottom sediments highly contaminated with EDCs in the leachates and effluents from waste landfills, industrial plants and sewage treatment works. Uchida et al. (2001) studied the metabolism of BPA with a highly purified laccase from the basidio-mycete *Trametes villosa*. They found that the laccase reaction may contain successive BPA polymerisation, followed by either the addition of phenol to the formed oligomers or their decomposition to release 4-isopropenylphenol. Ahn et al. (2002) treated two soils containing 2,4-DCP with both free and immobilised laccase from T. villosa. In the first one both laccases removed 100% of 2,4-DCP whereas in the second one the immobilised enzyme performed better. For practical soil remediation applications the lost of enzyme activity due to immobilisation together with the higher cost of the immobilised laccase makes the free laccase a better option.

Levin *et al.* (2003) analysed the ability of the white-rot basidiomycete *T. trogii* to degrade *in vitro* concentrations of 250-500 mg/L of nitrobenzene and anthracene. They found that more than 90% of the organic pollutants added to the fungal cultures were removed within 12-24 days. Enzyme estimations indicated a high and relatively stable activity of laccase, therefore, laccase activity could be implicated in the degradation of the above-mentioned compounds. Tanaka *et al.* (2003) showed that laccase from *Trametes* sp. efficiently treated sand contaminated with NP in a rotating reactor. The estrogenic activity decreased to 1/6-1/90 after 24 h of the treatment. This treatment system will be useful in the development of a remediation system for soils and bottom sediments contaminated with phenolic EDCs.

Dodor *et al.* (2004) studied the potential of laccase from *T. versicolor* immobilised on kaolinite to oxidise anthracene and benzo[a]pyrene in a sole-substrate system in the presence of ABTS. After 24 h of incubation, immobilised laccase-ABTS system oxidised more than 80% of the initial 70 μ M of PAHs present. Farnet *et al.* (2004) described the biochemical features and the ability of a new laccase isoform from a *Marasmius quercophilus* strain collected on evergreen oak litter to transform various aromatic compounds. Thus, they found that laccase from this strain was able to transform 2-chlorophenol, 2,4-DCP and 2,4,6-trichlorophenol without mediator addition.

Potin *et al.* (2004) investigated the ability of a Deuteromycete fungus, *Cladosporium sphaerospermum*, previously isolated from soil of an aged gas manufacturing plant in France, to degrade PAHs. This strain was able to degrade PAHs in non-sterile soils (average 23%), including high molecular weight PAHs, after 4 weeks of incubation. In liquid culture, *C. sphaerospermum* degraded rapidly benzo (α)pyrene during its early exponential phase of growth (18% after 4 days of incubation). Among different extracellular ligninolytic enzyme activities tested, only laccase activity was detected in liquid culture in the absence or in the presence of benzo(α)pyrene.

Rodríguez et al. (2004) studied the ability of *Pleurotus* eryngii, *P. ostreatus*, *Pleurotus pulmonarius* and *P. sajor*caju to degrade phenolic and non-phenolic aromatic pollutants in liquid and SSF cultures, the ligninolytic enzymes secreted by these fungi, i.e. laccase and versatile peroxidase, participating in the degradation processes. Their results suggest that the addition of these fungi grown on agricultural wastes contaminated soils could be used in bioremediation strategies. Under these conditions the fungi could degrade the pollutants and the partial delignification of the agricultural wastes used as a substrate could exert a positive effect on the growth of other soil microorganisms including those contributing to the total degradation of recalcitrant pollutants.

Zavarzina *et al.* (2004) showed that a purified laccase from the white-rot basidiomycete *P. tigrinus* 8/18 was capable of both polymerisation and depolymerisation of humic acids (HAs) *in vitro*. The direction of transformations depended on the nature and properties of HAs. This finding clarifies and extends the role of laccase in natural processes as not only an important agent of lignin degradation but also as a biocatalyst in oxidative transformations of humic substances – the most abundant and stable form of organic carbon in soils and aquatic systems. However, due to competitive inhibition of laccase by HAs, laccase concentration and activity in soils have to be rather high.

Pozdnyakova *et al.* (2006) reported that a laccase produced by submerged cultures of *P. ostreatus* was able to degrade the following PAHs: anthracene (91%), phenanthrene (72%), fluorene (53.5%), pyrene (65.5%), fluoranthene (69.7%) and perylene (73%) only in the presence of a synthetic mediator.

Marco-Urrea *et al.* (2006) reported for the first time the aerobic degradation of perchloroethylene (PCE) by the white rot fungus *T. versicolor* to less hazardous products. Aerobic degradation rate of PCE was 0.20 and 0.28 nmol/h/ mg dry weight of fungal biomass.

FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

The removal of organic pollutants by laccases is an interesting alternative for the treatment of contaminated sites. Laccases oxidise the organic compounds to usually less harmful or even innocuous products. However, one of the major limitations in developing laccase catalysis for industrial applications is the susceptibility of the enzyme to inactivation. Thus, laccases are often easily inactivated by a wide variety of environmental conditions that characterise the polluted sites (pH, salts, inhibitory molecules, extreme temperature gradients). Therefore, the application of laccase to the decontamination of both effluents and soils requires a careful investigation of the possible interactions between laccase and the chemicals present therein. The inactivation of laccase by such chemicals is initially due to depletion of the copper ion from the active site of the enzyme. Further reactions such as complex formation and unfolding may result in irreversible denaturation of laccase (Keum and Li 2004b).

In general, immobilisation protects laccase from deactivating agents. We are currently working on new strategies to immobilise laccase (Rodríguez Couto *et al.* 2007), such as the use of Al_2O_3 pellets as an immobilisation matrix followed by the sequential adsorption of oppositely charged polyelectrolytes (layer by layer technique). We have already shown that the immobilisation of laccase improves its stability properties with time. Several questions are still open, namely, the efficient of immobilised laccase as a function of temperature and also its reuse. Moreover, all this will considerably reduce the process cost.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

SRC and JLTH are *Ramón y Cajal Senior Research Fellows*. The authors thank the Spanish Ministry of Education and Science for promoting the *Ramón y Cajal Programme*. The authors also thank Elsevier Limited and the Royal Society of Chemistry for granting permission to use **Figs. 1** and **3**, respectively.

REFERENCES

- Aggelis G, Iconomou D, Christouc M, Bokas D, Kotzailias S, Christou G, Tsagou V, Papanikolaou S (2003) Phenolic removal in a model olive oil mill wastewater using *Pleurotus ostreatus* in bioreactor cultures and biological evaluation of the process. *Water Research* 37, 3897-3904
- Ahn MY, Dec J, Kim JE, Bollag JM (2002) Treatment of 2,4-dichlorophenol polluted soil with free and immobilized laccase. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 31, 1509-1515
- Alexandre G, Zhulin IB (2000) Laccases are widespread in bacteria. Trends in Biotechnology 18, 41-42
- Angerosa F, D'Alessandro N, Konstantinou P, Di Giacinto L (1995) GC–MS evaluation of phenolic compounds in virgin olive oil. *Journal of Agricultural* and Food Chemistry 42, 1802-1807
- Antorini M, Herpoel-Gimbert I, Choinowski T, Sigoillot JC, Asther M, Winterhalter K, Piontek K (2002) Purification, crystallisation and X-ray diffraction study of fully functional laccases from two ligninolytic fungi. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1594, 109-114
- Astolfi P, Brandi P, Galli C, Gentili P, Gerini MF, Greci L, Lanzalunga O (2005) New mediators for the enzyme laccase: mechanistic features and selectivity in the oxidation of non-phenolic substrates. *New Journal of Chemistry* 29, 1308-1317
- Baldrian P, Šnajdr J (2006) Production of ligninolytic enzymes by litterdecomposing fungi and their ability to decolorize synthetic dyes. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology* 39, 1023-1029
- Bartak P, Frnkova P, Cap L (2000) Determination of phenols using simultaneous steam distillation–extraction. *Journal of Chromatography A* 867, 281-287
- Blánquez P, Caminal, G, Sarrà M, Vicent MT (2007) The effect of HRT on the decolourisation of the Grey Lanaset G textile dye by *Trametes versicolor*. *Chemical Engineering Journal* **126**, 163-169
- Blánquez P, Sarrà M, Vicent MT (2006) Study of the cellular retention time and the partial biomass renovation in a fungal decolourisation continuous process. *Water Research* 40, 1650-1656
- Böhmer S, Messner K, Srebotnik E (1988) Oxidation of phenanthrene by a fungal laccase in the presence of 1-hydroxybenzotriazole and unsaturated lipids. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 244, 233-238
- BöhmerU, Suhardi S H, Bley T (2006) Decolorizing reactive textile dyes with white-rot fungi by temporary immersion cultivation. *Engineering in Life Sciences* 6, 417-420
- Bollag JM, Liu SY, Minard H (1982) Enzymatic oligomerization of vanillic acid. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 14, 157-163
- Bosch F, Font G, Manes J (1987) Ultraviolet spectrophotometric determination of phenols in natural and waste water with iodine monobromide. *Analyst* 112, 1335-1337
- Bourbonnais R, Paice MG (1990) Oxidation of non-phenolic substrates. An expanded role for laccase in lignin biodegradation. *FEBS Letters* 267, 99-102
- Bourbonnais R, Paice MG (1992) Demethylation and delignification of kraft pulp by *Trametes versicolor* laccase in the presence of 2,2-azinobis-(3ethylbenzthiazoline-6-sulfonate). *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 36, 823-827

Boyd GR, Palmeri JM, Zhang S, Grimm DA (2004) Pharmaceuticals and

personal care products (PPCPs) and endocrine disrupting chemicals (EDCs) in stormwater canals and Bayou St. John in New Orleans, Louisiana, USA. *Science of the Total Environment* **333**, 137-148

- Cabana H, Jiwan JLH, Rozenberg R, Elisashvili V, Penninckx M, Agathos SN, Jones JP (2007) Elimination of endocrine disrupting chemicals nonylphenol and bisphenol A and personal care product ingredient triclosan using enzyme preparation from the white rot fungus *Coriolopsis polyzona*. *Chemosphere* 67, 770-778
- Call HP, Mücke I (1997) History, overview and applications of mediated lignolytic systems, especially laccase-mediator systems (Lignozym[®] process). *Journal of Biotechnology* 53, 163-202
- Camarero S, Ibarra D, Martínez MJ, Martínez AT (2005) Lignin-derived compounds as efficient laccase mediators for decolorization of different types of recalcitrant dyes. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **71**, 1775-1784
- Canofeni S, Sario SD, Mela J, Pilloton R (1994) Comparison of immobilization procedures for development of an electrochemical PPO-based biosensor for online monitoring of a depuration process. *Analytical Letters* 27, 1659-1662
- Cantarella G, Galli C, Gentili P (2003) Free radical versus electrontransfer routes of oxidation of hydrocarbons by laccase-mediator systems. Catalytic and stoichiometric procedures. *Journal of Molecular Biocatalysis B* 22, 135-144
- Casa R, D'Annibale A, Pieruccetti F, Stazi SR, Giovannozzi SG, Lo Cascio B (2003) Reduction of the phenolic components in olive-mill wastewater by an enzymatic treatment and its impact on durum wheat (*Triticum durum* Desf.) germinability. *Chemosphere* 50, 959-966
- Cho S-J, Park SJ, Lim JS, Rhee YH, Shin KS (2002) Oxidation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons by laccase of *Coriolus hirsutus*. *Biotechnology Let*ters 24, 1337-1340
- Claus H (2003) Laccases and their occurrence in prokaryotes. Archives of Microbiology 179, 145-150
- Crawford RL (1996) Introduction. In: Crawford RL, Crawford DL (Eds) Bioremediation: Principles and Applications, Cambridge University Press, New York, pp 1-12
- D'Annibale A, Stazi SR, Vinciguerra V, Di Mattia E, Giovannozzi SG (1999) Characterization of immobilized laccase from *Lentinula edodes* and its use in olive-mill wastewater treatment. *Process Biochemistry* 34, 697-706
- D'Annibale A, Stazi SR, Vinciguerra V, Giovannozzi SG (2000) Oxiraneimmobilized *Lentinula edodes* laccase: stability and phenolics removal efficiency in olive mill wastewater. *Journal of Biotechnology* 77, 265-273
- D'Annibale A, Ricci M, Quaratino D, Federic, F, Fenice M (2004) Panus tigrinus efficiently removes phenols, color and organic load from olive-mill wastewater. Research in Microbiology 155, 596-603
- Dec J, Bollag JM (1990) Detoxification of substituted phenols by oxidoreductase enzymes through polmerization reaction. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 19, 543-550
- Dennison MJ, Turner APF (1995) Biosensors for environmental monitoring. Biotechnology Advances 13, 1-2
- Diano N, Grano V, Fraconte L, Caputo P, Ricupito A, Attanasio A, Bianco M, Bencivenga U, Rossi S, Manco I, Mita L, del Pozzo G, Mita DG (2007) Non-isothermal bioreactors in enzymatic remediation of waters polluted by endocrine disruptors: BPA as a model of pollutant. *Applied Catalysis B: Envi*ronmental 69, 252-261
- Dias AA, Bezerra RM, Pereira AN (2004) Activity and elution profile of laccase during biological decolorization and dephenolization of olive mill wastewater. *Bioresource Technology* **92**, 7-13
- **Dodor DE, Hwang HM, Ekunwe SIN** (2004) Oxidation of anthracene and benzo[α]pyrene by immobilized laccase from *Trametes versicolor*. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology* **35**, 210-217
- Durán N, Esposito E (2000) Potential applications of oxidative enzymes and phenoloxidase-like compounds in wastewater and soil treatment: a review. *Applied Catalysis B: Environmental* 28, 83-99
- Durante D, Casadio R, Martelli L, Tasco G, Portaccio M, de Luca P, Bencivenga U, Rossi S, di Martino S, Grano V, Diano N, Mita DG (2004) Isothermal and non-isothermal bioreactors in the detoxification of waste waters polluted by aromatic compounds by means of immobilised laccase from *Rhus vernicifera*. Journal of Molecular Catalysis B: Enzymatic 27, 191-206
- Eggert C, Temp U, Dean JFD, Eriksson KEL (1996) A fungal metabolite mediates degradation of non-phenolic lignin structures and synthetic lignin by laccase. *FEBS Letters* **391**, 144-148
- **Ersöz A, Denizli A, t Şener I, Atılır A, Diltemiz S, Say R** (2003) Removal of phenolic compounds with nitrophenol-imprinted polymer based on π - π and hydrogen-bonding interactions. *Separation and Purification Technology* **38**, 173-179
- Farnet AM, Criquet S, Cigna M, Gil G, Ferré E (2004) Purification of a laccase from *Marasmius quercophilus* induced with ferulic acid: reactivity towards natural and xenobiotic aromatic compounds. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology* 34, 549-554
- Fountoulakis MS, Dokianakis SN, Kornaros ME, Aggelis GG, Lyberatos G (2002) Removal of phenolics in olive mill wastewaters using the white-rot fungus *Pleurotus ostreatus*. *Water Research* **36**, 4735-4744
- Freire RS, Durán N, Kubota LT (2001) Effects of fungal laccase immobilization procedures for the development of a biosensor for phenol compounds. *Talanta* 54, 681-686
- Freire RS, Durán N, Kubota LT (2002) Development of a laccase-based flow

injection electrochemical biosensor for the determination of phenolic compounds and its application for monitoring remediation of Kraft E1 paper mill effluent. *Analytica Chimica Acta* **463**, 229-238

- Freire RS, Pelegrini R, Kubota LT, Peralta-Zamora P, Durán N (2000) Novas tendências para o tratamento de resíduos industriais contendo espécies organocloradas. *Química Nova* 23, 504-511
- Fukuda T, Uchida H, Takashima Y, Uwajima T, Kawabata T, Suzuki M (2001) Degradation of bisphenol A by purified laccase from *Trametes villosa*. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 284, 704-706
- Gianfreda L, Rao MA (2004) Potential of extra cellular enzymes in remediation of polluted soils: A review. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology* 35, 339-354
- Gianfreda L, Sannino F, Filazzola MT, Leonowicz A (1998) Catalytic behavior and detoxifying ability of a laccase from the fungal strain *Cerrena unicolor. Journal of Molecular Catalysis B: Enzymatic* 4, 13-23
- Gómez J, Pazos M, Rodríguez Couto S, Sanromán A (2005) Chestnut shell and barley bran as potential substrates for laccase production by *Coriolopsis* rigida under solid-state conditions. *Journal of Food Engineering* 68, 315-319
- Haddadin MS, Al-Natour R, Al-Qsous S, Robinson RK (2002) Biodegradation of lignin in olive pomace by freshly-isolated species of Basidiomycete. *Bioresource Technology* 82, 131-137
- Hatcher PG, Botiatynski JM, Minard RD, Dec J, Bollag JM (1993) Use of high resolution 13NMR to examine the enzymatic covalent binding of ¹³Clabeled 2;4 dichlorophenol to humic substances. *Environmental Science and Technology* 27, 2098-2103
- Held C, Kandelbauer A, Schroeder M, Cavaco-Paulo A, Guebitz GM (2005) Biotransformation of phenolics with laccase containing bacterial spores. *Environmental Chemistry Letters* **3**, 74-77
- Hirai H, Nakanishi S, Nishida T (2004) Oxidative dechlorination of methoxychlor by ligninolytic enzymes from white-rot fungi. *Chemosphere* 55, 641-645
- Hublik G, Schinner F (2000) Characterization and immobilization of the laccase from *Pleurotus ostreatus* and its use for the continuous elimination of phenolic pollutants. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology* **27**, 330-336
- Kamida HM, Durrant LR, Rosim Monteiro RT, Dutra de Armas E (2005) Biodegradação de efluente têxtil por *Pleurotus sajor-caju. Quimica Nova* 28, 629-632
- Kandelbauer A, Guebitz GM (2005) Bioremediation for the decolorization of textile dyes, a review. In: Lichtfouse E, Schwarzbauer J, Robert D (Eds) *Environmental Chemistry*, Springer-Verlag, Heidelberg, pp 269-288
- Keum YS, Li QX (2004a) Fungal laccase-catalyzed degradation of hydroxy polychlorinated biphenyls. *Chemosphere* **56**, 23-30
- Keum YS, Li QX (2004b) Copper dissociation as a mechanism of fungal laccase denaturation by humic acid. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 64, 588-592
- Kleen M, Ohra-aho T, Tamminen T (2003) On the interaction of HBT with pulp lignin during mediated laccase delignification – a study using fractionated pyrolysis-GC/MS. *Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis* 70, 589-600
- Klonowska A, Gaudin C, Fournel, Asso M, le Petit J, Giorgi M, Tron T (2002) Characterization of a low redox potential laccase from the basidiomycete C30. *European Journal of Biochemistry* **269**, 6119-6125
- Klyachko NL, Bogdanova NG, Levashov AV, Martinek K (1992) Micellar enzymology: Superactivity of enzymes in reversed micelles of surfactants solvated by water/organic cosolvent mixtures. *Collection of Czechoslovak Chemical Communications* 57, 625-640
- Kokol V, Doliska A, Eichlerova I, Baldrian P, Nerud F (2007) Decolorization of textile dyes by whole cultures of *Ischnoderma resinosum* and by purified laccase and Mn-peroxidase. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology* 40, 1673-1677
- Kolpin DW, Furlong ET, Meyer MT, Thurman EM, Zaugg SD, Barber LB, Buxton HT (2002) Pharmaceuticals, hormones, and other organic wastewater contaminants in US streams, 1999-2000: a national reconnaissance. *Environmental Science and Technology* 36, 1202-1211
- Kulys J, Vidziunaite R (2003) Amperometric biosensors based on recombinant laccases for phenols determination. *Biosensors and Bioelectronics* 18, 319-325
- Lante A, Crapisi A, Krastanov A, Spettoli P (2000) Biodegradation of phenols by laccase immobilised in a membrane reactor. *Process Biochemistry* 36, 51-58
- Levin L, Forchiassin F, Viale A (2003) Degradation of organic pollutants by the white-rot basidiomycete Trametes trogii. *International Biodeterioration and Biodegradation* **2**, 1-5
- Li KC, Xu F, Eriksson KEL (1999) Comparison of fungal laccases and redox mediators in oxidation of a nonphenolic lignin model compound. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 65, 2654-2660
- Majcherczyk A, Johannes C, Hüttermann A (1998) Oxidation of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAH) by Laccase of *Trametes versicolor*. Enzyme and Microbial Technology 22, 335-341
- Majcherczyk A, Johannes C (2000) Radical mediated indirect oxidation of a PEG-coupled polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon (PAH) model compound by fungal laccase. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 147, 157-162
- Mansur M, Suarez T, Gonzalez AE (1998) Differential gene expression in the laccase gene family from Basidiomycete I-62 (CECT 20197). *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **64**, 771-774

- Marco-Urrea E, Gabarrell X, Sarrà M, Caminal G,Vicent T, Reddy CA (2006) Novel aerobic perchloroethylene degradation by the white-rot fungus *Trametes versicolor. Environmental Science and Technology* **40**, 7796-7802
- Marko-Varga G, EmnCus J, Gotton L, Ruzgas T (1995) Development of enzyme-based amperometric sensors for the determination of phenolic compounds. *Trends in Analytical Chemistry* 14, 319-328
- Martirani L, Giardina P, Marzullo L, Sannia G (1996) Reduction of phenol content and toxicity in olive oil mill waste waters with the ligninolytic fungus *Pleurotus ostreatus. Water Research* **30**, 1914-1918
- McGuirl MA, Dooley DM (1999) Copper-containing oxidases. Current Opinion in Chemical Biology 3, 138-144
- Mechichi T, Mhiri N, Sayadi S (2006) Remazol Brilliant Blue R decolourization by the laccase from *Trametes trogii*. Chemosphere 64, 998-1005
- Michizoe J, Ichinose H, Kamiya N, Maruyama T, Goto M (2005) Biodegradation of phenolic environmental pollutants by a surfactant–laccase complex in organic media. *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering* 99, 642-647
- Minussi RC, Pastore GM, Durán M (2007) Laccase induction in fungi and laccase/N–OH mediator systems applied in paper mill effluent. *Bioresource Technology* **98**, 158-164
- Mishra SS, Bisaria VS (2006) Production and characterization of laccase from *Cyathus bulleri* and its use in decolourization of recalcitrant textile dyes. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* **71**, 646-653
- Modaressi K, Taylor KE, Bewtra KJ, Biswas N (2005) Laccase-catalyzed removal of bisphenol-A from water: Protective effect of PEG on enzyme activity. *Water Research* 39, 4309-4316
- Möder M, Martin C, Koeller G (2004) Degradation of hydroxylated compounds using laccase and horseradish peroxidase immobilized on microporous polypropylene hollow fiber membranes. *Journal of Membrane Science* 245, 183-190
- Moldes D, Gallego PP, Rodríguez Couto S, Sanromán Á (2003) Grape seeds: the best lignocellulosic waste to produce laccase by solid state cultures of *Trametes hirsuta. Biotechnolgy Letters* 25, 491-495
- Moreno E, Pérez J, Ramos-Cormenzana A, Martinez J (1987) Antimicrobial effect of wastewater from olive oil extraction plants selecting bacteria after incubation with diluted waste. *Microbios* **51**, 169-174
- Mosca L, De Marco C, Visioli F, Cannella C (2000) Enzymatic assay for the determination of olive oil polyphenol content: assay conditions and validation of the method. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 48, 297-301
- Murugesan K, Dhamija A, Nam I-H, Kim Y-M, Chang Y-S (2007a) Decolourization of reactive black 5 by laccase: Optimization by response surface methodology. *Dyes and Pigments* 75, 176-184
- Murugesan K, Nam I-H, Kim Y-M, Chang Y-S (2007b) Decolorization of reactive dyes by a thermostable laccase produced by *Ganoderma lucidum* in solid state culture. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology* 40, 1662-1672
- Nistor C, Emneus J, Gorton L, Ciucu A (1999) Improved stability and altered selectivity of tyrosinase based graphite electrodes for detection of phenolic compounds. *Analytica Chimica Acta* 387, 309-326
- Novotny C, Svobodova K, Erbanova P, Cajthaml T, Kasinath A, Lang E, Sasek V (2004a) Ligninolytic fungi in bioremediation: extracellular enzyme production and degradation rate. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **36**, 1545-1551
- Novotny C, Svobodova K, Kasinath A, Erbanova P (2004b) Biodegradation of synthetic dyes by *Irpex lacteus* under various growth conditions. *International Biodeteroration and Biodegradation* **54**, 215-223
- Nyanhongo GS, Rodriguez Couto S, Guebitz GM (2006) Coupling of 2,4,6trinitrotoluene (TNT) metabolites onto humic monomers by a new laccase from *Trametes modesta*. *Chemosphere* **64**, 359-370
- Olivieri G, Marzocchella A, Salatino P, Giardina P, Cennamo G, Sannia G (2006) Olive mill wastewater remediation by means of *Pleurotus ostreatus*. *Biochemical Engineering Journal* **31**, 180-187
- O'Neill C, Hawkes FR, Hawkes DL, Lourenço ND, Pinheiro HM, Delee W (1999) Colour in textile effluents – sources, measurement, discharge consents and simulation: A review. *Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology* 74, 1009-1018
- Ong CP, Lee HK, Li SF (1989) Optimization of mobile phase composition for high-performance liquid chromatographic analysis of eleven priority substituted phenols. *Journal of Chromatography A* **464**, 405-410
- Osma JF, Toca Herrera JL, Rodríguez Couto S (2007) Banana skin: A novel waste for laccase production by *Trametes pubescens* under solid-state conditions. Application to synthetic dye decolouration. *Dyes and Pigments* 75, 32-37
- Palmieri G, Cennamo G, Sannia G (2005a) Remazol brilliant blue R decolourisation by the fungus *Pleurotus ostreatus* and its oxidative enzymes. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology* 36, 17-24
- Palmieri G, Giardina P, Sannia G (2005b) Laccase-mediated Remazol Brilliant Blue R decolorization in a fixed-bed bioreactor. *Biotechnology Progress* 25, 1436-1441
- Pérez J, de la Rubia T, Moreno J, Martinez J (1992) Phenolic content and antibacterial activity of olive oil waste waters. *Environmental and Toxicolo*gical Chemistry 11, 489-495
- Potin O, Veignie E, Rafin C (2004) Biodegradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) by *Cladosporium sphaerospermum* isolated from an aged PAH contaminated soil. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology* **51**, 71-78
- Pozdnyakova NN, Rodakiewicz-Nowak J, Turkovskaya OV, Haber J (2006) Oxidative degradation of polyaromatic hydrocarbons catalyzed by blue lac-

case from *Pleurotus ostreatus* D1 in the presence of synthetic mediators. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology* **39**, 1242-1249

- Rancaño G, Lorenzo M, Molares N, Rodríguez Couto S, Sanromán Á (2003) Production of laccase by *Trametes versicolor* in an airlift fermentor. *Process Biochemistry* 39, 467-473
- Ramsay JA, Mok WHW, Luu Y-S, Savage M (2005) Decoloration of textile dyes by alginate-immobilized *Trametes versicolor*. Chemosphere 61, 956-964
- Reinhammar BRM (1972) Oxidation– reduction potentials of the electron acceptors in laccases and stellacyanin, *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 275, 245-259
- Revankar MS, Lele SS (2007) Synthetic dye decolorization by white rot fungus, Ganoderma sp. WR-1. Bioresource Technology 98, 775-780
- Rigas F, Marchant VDR, Papadopoulou K, Avramides EJ, Hatzianestis I (2005) Biodegradation of lindane by *Pleurotus ostreatus* via central composite design. *Environment International* **31**, 191-196
- Robinson T, McMullan G, Marchant R, Nigam P (2001) Remediation of dyes in textile effluent: a critical review on current treatment technologies with a proposed alternative. *Bioresource Technology* 77, 247-255
- Rodríguez S, Fernández M, Bermúdez RC, Morris H (2003) Tratamiento de efluentes industriales coloreados con *Pleurotus* spp. *Revista Iberoaméricana de Micología* 20, 164-168
- Rodríguez E, Nuero O, Guillen F, Martínez AT, Martínez MJ (2004) Degradation of phenolic and non-phenolic aromatic pollutants by four *Pleurotus* species: the role of laccase and versatile peroxidase. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 36, 909-916
- Rodríguez Couto S, Gundín M, Lorenzo M, Sanromán A (2002) Screening of supports and inducers for laccase production by *Trametes versicolor* in semi-solid-state conditions. *Process Biochemistry* **38**, 249-255
- Rodríguez Couto S, Hofer D, Sanromán M^a Á, Gübitz GM (2004a) Production of laccase by *Trametes hirsuta* grown in an immersion bioreactor. Application to decolourisation of dyes from a leather factory. *Engineering in Life Sciences* **4**, 233-238
- Rodríguez Couto S, Rosales E, Gundín M, Sanromán Mª Á (2004b) Exploitation of a waste from the brewing industry for laccase production by two *Trametes* sp. *Journal of Food Engineering* 64, 423-428
- Rodríguez Couto S, Sanromán Mª Á, Hofer D, Gübitz GM (2004c) Stainless steel sponge: a novel carrier for the immobilisation of the white-rot fungus *Trametes hirsuta* for decolourisation of textile dyes. *Bioresource Technology* 95, 67-72
- Rodríguez Couto S, Sanromán Mª Á (2005) Coconut flesh: a novel raw material for laccase production by *Trametes hirsuta* under solid-state conditions. Application to Lissamine Green B decolourization. *Journal of Food Engineering* 71, 208-213
- Rodríguez Couto S, López E, Sanromán Mª Á (2006) Utilisation of grape seeds for laccase production in solid-state fermentors. *Journal of Food Engineering* 74, 263-267
- Rodríguez Couto S, Sanromán M^a Á (2006) Effect of two wastes from groundnut processing on laccase production and dye decolourization ability. *Journal of Food Engineering* 73, 388-393
- Rodríguez Couto S, Sanromán Mª Á (2007) Violuric acid increases the decolourization of recalcitrant dyes by laccase from *Trametes hirsuta*. *Dyes and Pigments* 74, 123-126
- Rodríguez Couto S, Osma JF, Saravia V, Gübitz G, Toca-Herrera JL (2007) Coating of immobilised laccase for stability enhancement: a novel approach. *Applied Catalysis A General* **329**, 156-160
- Romero S, Blánquez P, Caminal G, Font X, Sarrà M, Gabarrell X, Vicent T (2006) Different approaches to improving the textile dye degradation capacity of *Trametes versicolor*. *Biochemical Engineering Journal* **31**, 42-47
- Roy JJ, Abraham TE, Abhijith KS, Sujith Kumar PV, Thakur MS (2005) Biosensor for the determination of phenols based on Cross-Linked Enzyme Crystals (CLEC) of laccase. *Biosensors and Bioelectronics* **21**, 206-211
- Ryan D, Leukes W, Burton S (2007) Improving the bioremediation of phenolic wastewaters by *Trametes versicolor*. *Bioresource Technology* 98, 579-587
- Saito T, Kato K, Yokogawa Y, Nishida M, Yamashita N (2004) Detoxification of bisphenol A and nonylphenol by purified extracellular laccase from a fungus isolated from soil. *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering* 98, 64-66
- Sayadi S, Allouche N, Jaoua M, Aloui F (2000) Detrimental effects of high molecular-mass polyphenols on olive-mill wastewater treatment. *Process Biochemistry* 35, 725-735
- Schneider P, Caspersen MB, Mondorf K, Halkier T, Skov LK, Ostergaard PR, Brown KM, Brown SH, Xu F (1999) Characterization of a Coprimus cinereus laccase. Enzyme and Microbial Technology 25, 502-508
- Sedarati MR, Keshavarz T, Leontievsky AA, Evans CS (2003) Transformation of high concentrations of chlorophenols by the white-rot basidiomycete *Trametes versicolor* immobilized on nylon mesh. *Electronic Journal of Biotechnology* 6, 104-114
- Shleev SV, Morozova OV, Nikitina OV, Gorshina ES, Rusinova TV, Serezhenkov VA, Burbaev DS, Gazaryan IG, Yaropolov AI (2004a) Comparison of physico-chemical characteristics of four laccases from different basidiomycetes. *Biochimie* 86, 693-703
- Shleev SV, Zaitseva EA, Gorshina ES, Morozova OV, Serezhenkov VA, Burbaev D, Yaropolov A, Gorton L, Ruzgas T (2004b) Spectral and electrochemical study of laccases from basidiomycetes. *Moscow University Che-*

mistry Bulletin 44, 35-39

- Shleev S, Christenson A, Serezhenkov V, Burbaev D, Yaropolov A, Gorton L, Ruzgas T (2005) Electrochemical redox transformations of T1 and T2 copper sites in native *Trametes hirsuta* laccase at gold electrode, *Biochemical Journal* 385, 745-754
- Shleev S, Persson P, Shumakovich G, Mazhugo Y, Yaropolov A, Ruzgas T, Gorton L (2006) Laccase-based biosensors for monitoring lignin. *Enzyme* and Microbial Technology 39, 841-847
- Solomon EI, Sundaram UM, Machonkin TE (1996) Multicopper oxidases and oxygenases. Chemical Reviews 96, 2563-2605
- Svitel J, Miertus S (1998) Development of tyrosinase-based biosensor and its application for monitoring of bioremediation of phenol and phenolic compounds. *Environmental Science and Technology* 32, 828-832
- Tanaka T, Tonosaki T, Nose M, Tomidokoro N, Kadomura N, Fujii T, Taniguchi M (2001) Treatment of model soils contaminated with phenolic endocrine-disrupting chemicals with lactase from *Trametes* sp. in a rotating reactor. *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering* 92, 312-316
- Tanaka T, Nose M, Endo A, Fujii T, Taniguchi M (2003) Treatment of nonphenol with laccase in a rotating reactor. *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengi*neering 96, 541-546
- Tasioula-Margari M, Okogeri O (2001) Isolation and characterization of virgin olive oil phenolic compounds by HPLC/UV and GC–MS. *Journal of Food Science* 66, 530-534
- Tatsumi K, Freyer A, Minard RD, Bollag JM (1994a) Enzymatic coupling of chloroanilines with syringic acid, vannilin acid and protocatechuic acid. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 26, 735-742
- Tatsumi K, Freyer A, Minard RD, Bollag JM (1994b) Enzyme mediated coupling of 3,4-dichloroaniline and ferulic acid: a model for pollutant binding to humic materials. *Environmental Science and Technology* 28, 210-215
- Timur S, Pazarhoglu N, Pilloton R, Telefoncu A (2004) Thick film sensors based on laccases from different sources immobilized in polyaniline matrix. *Sensors and Actuators B* 97, 132-136
- Tsioulpas A, Dimou D, Iconomou D, Aggelis G (2002) Phenolic removal in olive oil mill wastewater by strains of *Pleurotus* spp. in respect to their phenol oxidase (laccase) activity. *Bioresource Technology* 84, 251-257
- Uchida H, Fukuda T, Miyamoto H, Kawabata T, Suzuki M, Uwajima T (2001) Polymerization of bisphenol A by purified laccase from *Trametes vil*losa. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 287, 355-358
- Ullah MA, Bedford CT, Evans CS (2000) Reactions of pentachlorophenol with laccase from Coriolus versicolor. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 53, 230-234
- Valli K, Brock BJ, Joshi DK, Gold MH (1992) Degradation of 2,4-dintrotoluene by the lignin degrading fungus *Phanerochaete chrysosporium*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 58, 221-228
- Vianello F, Cambria A, Ragusa S, Cambria MT, Zennaro L, Rigo A (2004) A high sensitivity amperometric biosensor using a monomolecular layer of laccase as biorecognition element. *Biosensors and Bioelectronics* 20, 315-321
- Vianello F, Ragusa S, Cambria MT, Rigo A (2006) A high sensitivity amperometric biosensor using laccase as biorecognition element. *Biosensors and Bioelectronics* 21, 2155-2160
- Willmott N, Guthrie J, Nelson G (1998) The biotechnology approach to colour removal from textile effluent. *Journal of the Society of Dyers and Colourists* 114, 38-41
- Wong Y, Yu J (1999) Laccase-catalyzed decolorization of synthetic dyes. Water Research 33, 3512-3520
- Xu F, Shin W, Brown SH, Wahleithner JA, Sundaram UM, Solomon EI (1996) A study of a series of recombinant fungal laccases and bilirubin oxidase that exhibit significant differences in redox potential, substrate specificity, and stability. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1292, 303-311
- Yagüe S, Terron MC, Gonzalez T, Zapico E, Bocchini P, Galletti GC, Gonzalez AE (2000) Biotreatment of tannin-rich beer factory wastewaters with white-rot basidiomycete *Coriolopsis gallica* monitored by pyrolysis/gas chromatography/mass spectrometry. *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry* 14, 905-910
- Yaropolov AI, Kharybin AN, Emnéus J, Marko-Varga G, Gorton L (1995) Flow-injection analysis of phenols at a graphite electrode modified with coimmobilized laccase and tyrosinase. *Analytica Chimica Acta* 308, 137-144
- Yesiladal SK, Pekin G, Bermek H, Arslan-Alaton I, Orhon D, Tamerler C (2006) Bioremediation of textile azo dyes by *Trichophyton rubrum* LSK-27. *World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology* **10**, 1017-1031
- Zavarzina AG, Leontievsky AA, Golovleva LA, Trofimov SY (2004) Biotransformation of soil humic acids by blue laccase of *Panus tigrinus 8/18*: an *in vitro* study. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 36, 359-369
- Zhao L, Lee HK (2001) Determination of phenols in water using liquid phase microextraction with back extraction combined with high performance liquid chromatography. *Journal of Chromatography A* 931, 95-105
- Zollinger H (1987) Colour chemistry-synthesis, properties of organic dyes and pigments. VCH, New York, pp 92-100
- Zouari-Mechichi H, Mechichi T, Dhouib A, Sayadi S, Martínez AT, Martínez MJ (2006) Laccase purification and characterization from *Trametes trogii* isolated in Tunisia: decolorization of textile dyes by the purified enzyme. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology* **39**, 141-148